Case No. S S 1 8 5 8 2 7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Anthony Kirby et al.,

Plaintiffs, Appellant and Petitioners

AUG 2 7 2010 Frederick K. Onlinch Clerk

VS.

Immoos Fire Protection, Inc.,

Defendant and Respondents

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District Case No. C062306

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICES OF ELLYN MOSCOWITZ, P.C.

ELLYN MOSCOWITZ (SBN 129287) JENNIFER LAI (SBN 228117) 1629 TELEGRAPH AVE, 4TH FLOOR

OAKLAND, CA 94612

TELEPHONE: (510) 899-6240

FACSIMILE: (510) 899-6245

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS, APPELLANTS AND PETITIONERS ANTHONY KIRBY AND RICK LEECH, JR.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Did the Court of Appeal err by concluding the statutorily-mandated Labor Code Section¹ 226.7 "wage" for missed meal and rest periods is subject to the two-way fee shifting statute of Section 218.5?
- (2) Did the Court of Appeal err by awarding fees to the employer under Section 218.5 where no parties made a specific demand for Section 218.5 attorneys' fees "upon initiation of the lawsuit" as required by the statute?
- (3) Did the Court of Appeal err by finding the employer the "prevailing party" entitled to an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to Section 218.5 when the employees recovered all wages due to them?
- (4) Did the Court of Appeal err by holding that the term "action" in the second paragraph of Section 218.5 means "cause of action" and that an employee seeking minimum wage or overtime

¹ All references are to the California Labor Code unless otherwise cited.

compensation under Section 1194 must forego his or her additional claim for straight pay or face the risk of potentially ruinous liability for the employer's attorneys' fees?

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case must be reviewed because for the first time a Court of Appeal has held that a non-prevailing² employee in a meal or rest period lawsuit can be liable to their employer for the employer's attorneys' fees under Section 218.5. This fee section is the only "twoway" fee shifting statute in the Labor Code; all others, most notably Section 1194, make it clear an employee's right to pursue statutorilymandated wages should not be chilled for fear of owing their employer an attorneys' fee. Here, this is an especially incorrect decision with an egregious result because the employees did recover all wages owed by the employer's co-defendants, never requested Section 218.5 fees at the inception of the lawsuit (as required by statute), and were still told their employer could seek fees for a failed "rest period" cause of action. If this result stands, no employee would seek their additional hour's wage under Section 226.7 as a remedy for meal and rest period violations for fear of being liable for the attorneys' fees of their employer, something the Legislature never contemplated. This Court must review to correct this serious

² Although Petitioners assert and later make an argument that Plaintiffs were the prevailing party, the more important issue is that even if they were not, Section 218.5 cannot award fees to an employer on a meal or rest period claim.

misinterpretation of the Labor Code affecting millions of workers in California.

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Petitioners were sprinklerfitters employed by Defendant and Respondent Immoos Fire Protection, Inc. ("Respondent" or "Immoos"), a provider of fire protection services on construction sites throughout California. On January 3, 2007, Petitioners filed a class action lawsuit against Respondent for widespread wage and hour violations, alleging a total of six causes of action against Respondent, and a seventh cause of action against various General Contractors who entered into construction contracts with Immoos for construction labor services pursuant to Section 2810 ("2810 Defendants"). (1 JA 0001-0016.) On June 20, 2007, Respondent filed an amended answer to the complaint. (2 JA 0097-0101.) On August 30, 2007, Petitioners filed a first amended complaint. (1 JA 0017-0032.) On September 18, 2007, Respondent answered the first amended complaint. (2 JA 0201-0205.) Neither the Complaints nor the Answers ever invoked Section 218.5 fees.

Petitioners filed a motion for class certification, which was first noticed for December 19, 2008. (1 JA 0051.) On October 1, 2008, Petitioners entered into a conditional settlement with one of the 2810 Defendants. (1 JA 0043.) On October 14, 2008, Petitioners entered into a conditional settlement with another 2810 Defendant. (1 JA 0046.) On November 21, 2008, Petitioners entered into a conditional settlement with a third 2810 Defendant. (1 JA 0049.) On December 2, 2008, Petitioners finally entered into a conditional settlement with

the last identified 2810 Defendant. (1 JA 0054). These settlements totaling \$6,000 amounted to the full wages the two named plaintiffs were owed which has never been disputed in any of the briefs by Respondent.

Thereafter, on January 13, 2009, the trial court denied the motion for class certification. (2 JA 0207.) After execution of those conditional settlements, Petitioners filed dismissal of the Complaint against each of the 2810 Defendants on January 26, 2009 (1 JA 0056), January 26, 2009 (1 JA 0058), January 29, 2009 (1 JA 0060) and February 9, 2009 (1 JA 0061). It was not until receiving all the monies due to Petitioners that they filed a request for dismissal against Respondent on February 27, 2009. (1 JA 0062.) On April 24, 2009, Respondent filed a motion for attorneys' fees and costs (1 JA 0064 – 3 JA 347), arguing they were the prevailing party, and on June 24, 2009, the trial court awarded Respondent \$46,846.05 for its defense against all causes of action. (3 JA0411-0414.) Petitioners appealed the trial court's decision.

On July 27, 2010, the Court of Appeal issued its Opinion, reversing the trial court's decision to award attorneys' fee awards to Respondent for six out of the seven causes of action. Op. at 2. However, the Court of Appeal concluded, that the trial court properly granted an attorneys' fee award for the sixth cause of action related to missed rest periods – the sole and remaining cause of action at issue in this litigation. This sixth cause of action alleges Respondent failed to provide second rest periods in violation of Section 226.7 and Industrial Wage Order No. 16-2001. As such, Appellants were owed

Section 226.7 wages, or, specifically, "one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each work day that the . . . rest period is not provided." § 226.7(b).

In affirming the trial court's fee award for Section 226.7 claims, the Court of Appeal rejected Petitioners' contention that Section 226.7 claims fell squarely within the one-way fee provision of Section 1194, which precludes employers from recovering attorneys' fees in claims for nonpayment of wages considered to be "legal minimum wage" or "legal overtime compensation." § 1194. Instead, the Court of Appeal held that Section 218.5, California's bilateral fee-shifting provision, applied to Section 226.7 claims. Op. at 18-21. The Court of Appeal explained that because the Section 226.7 wage is calculated using the "employee's regular rate of compensation," which it considered a "contractual rate of compensation" and not the "legal minimum wage," Section 226.7 claims are not "premised on the failure to pay the minimum wage," rendering such claims outside the purview of Section 1194. *Id.* at 10-20.

The Court of Appeal has it wrong, and the analysis in its published Opinion represents an unprecedented and radical departure from the well-established standards California courts have long used to determine whether a wage claim falls within Section 1194.

Moreover, the Court of Appeal's decision is incompatible with Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc., 40 Cal. 4th 1094, 1112 (2007) ("Similarly, the Labor Code mandates the payment of a minimum wage and makes the payment of a lesser amount 'unlawful.' Nonetheless, this prohibition does not convert the remedy of

recovering the unpaid balance of the full amount of the minimum wage (§ 1194, subd. (a)) into something other than a wage subject to a three-year statute of limitations.").

The Opinion also violates long-standing California public policy that the wage laws should be construed in a manner most favorable to the employee and that of protecting workers, particularly low-wage workers. *Martinez v. Combs*, 49 Cal. 4th 35, 61 (Cal. 2010) ("[I]n light of the remedial nature of the legislative enactments authorizing the regulation of wages, hours and working conditions for the protection and benefit of employees, the statutory provisions are to be liberally construed with an eye to promoting such protection.") (citation omitted). Workers who bring unsuccessful claims for violations of fundamental worker protections such as statutorily-mandated wages for rest periods and overtime should not have to fend off employer demands for attorneys' fees, which may, as they have in this instance, exceed the total amount recovered in a wage and hour action alleging multiple causes of action against multiple defendants. The Court must grant this Petition and dispose of this Opinion.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO ESTABLISH THAT THE STATUTORILY-MANDATED SECTION 226.7 WAGE IS A "LEGAL MINIMUM WAGE" PROTECTED UNDER SECTION 1194.

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1), the California Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law. Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1). The Supreme Court is an "institutional overseer" and "decides cases involving important public policy questions." Eisenberg, Horvitz and Wiener, Cal. Practice Guide: Civil Appeals and Writs (The Rutter Group 2009) ¶13:1, p. 13-1 (rev. #1, 2009). Review should granted here to settle important questions of law regarding the applicability of Section 1194 to the Section 226.7 wage and to clarify important public policy issues. A grant of review is also timely given the Court's recent review of *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court*, 165 Cal. App. 4th 25 (2008).

In publishing its decision in this case, the Third District Court of Appeal is making clear it is setting *new precedent* in regards to attorneys' fees in meal and rest period cases, and in direct conflict with *Murphy*.³ A decision with such devastating consequences to

³ The Opinion has generated significant press and activity on employer legal blogs suggesting the Opinion has become a harassing tool for employers. *See* RJN, Ex. A (an employers' lawyer stating workers no longer get a "free whack" as employers can now "credibly threaten to obtain a sizable judgment against employees" even though

millions of California workers must be reviewed by this Supreme Court.

B. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S ANALYSIS DISREGARDS THE LONG-ESTABLISHED LEGAL STANDARD, CAUSES CONFUSION AND CONFLICT, AND SHOULD BE REJECTED.

A wage constitutes a "legal minimum wage" or "legal overtime compensation" under Section 1194 when (1) the employer's duty to pay the wage is mandated by statute and "enforceable independent of an express contractual agreement;" and (2) the employee's entitlement to the wage is based on important public policy. *Road Sprinkler Fitters Local Union v. G&G Fire Sprinkers*, 102 Cal. App. 4th 765, 778-779 (2002); *see also Earley v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County*, 79 Cal. App. 4th 1420, 1430 (2000); *Reyes v. Van Elk, Ltd.*, 148 Cal. App. 4th 604, 612 (2007). California courts have applied this standard to establish the prevailing wage as a "legal minimum wage" under Section 1194. *Road Sprinkler Fitters*, 102 Cal. App. 4th at 779; *Reyes*, 148 Cal. App. 4th at 612. Courts have also held that overtime compensation falls exclusively within Section 1194. *Earley*, 79 Cal. App. 4th at 1430; *Eicher v. Advanced Business Integrators*, *Inc.*, 151 Cal. App. 4th 1363, 1378 (2007).

[&]quot;many such awards may not ultimately become collectible in full"); Ex. B (an employers' lawyer stating a worker who brings an unsuccessful claim is "potentially facing a judgment lien on property" or a "black mark in credit"). This legal "precedent" is exactly why the Supreme Court must grant review.

Inexplicably, the Court of Appeal disregarded this legal standard in its analysis of the Section 226.7 wage. Op. at 18-21. Citing *no authority*, the Court of Appeal instead embarked on an analysis of the "employee's regular rate of compensation," the measure of pay employers are required to use to compensate employees for violations of Section 226.7. *Id.* at 19-20. The Court of Appeal concluded that because the "employee's rate of compensation" referred to a "contractual rate of compensation" and not the "legal minimum wage," a claim for Section 226.7 wages "is not one premised on failure to pay the minimum wage." *Id.* at 20.

The Court of Appeal's analysis is dangerously wrong. First, the employer and employees here, working under a contractural employment relationship where they agree on a wage rate, does not affect the test for Section 1194 applicability. The test hinges on whether the duty to pay the wage is mandated by statute and enforceable independent of an express contractual agreement. Road Sprinkler Fitters Local Union, 102 Cal. App. 4th at 779 ("[W]hile the obligation to pay [the wage] arises from an employment relationship which gives rise to contractual obligations and claims, the duty to pay [the wage]" must be statutory in order for Section 1194 to apply.) As such, an agreement concerning whether the employer pays the Section 226.7 wage would be relevant, but an agreement on the "regular rate of compensation" – the rate at which the employer would pay – is simply not. The Court of Appeal's reliance on the "regular rate of compensation" as a basis for finding that the Section 226.7 wage falls outside of Section 1194 is flawed.

Second, if mere reference to a "regular rate of compensation" is sufficient to exclude Section 226.7 from Section 1194, then overtime compensation would be excluded as well. Section 510 governing overtime compensation also refers to an "employee's regular rate of pay." § 510. Overtime compensation, however, is not excluded from Section 1194. Indeed, it is explicitly included in Section 1194. The Court of Appeal's analysis thus leads to conflicting decisions of law.

Moreover, by characterizing the Section 226.7 wage as a "sum over and above the regular pay" and through repeated use of "minimum wage," the Court of Appeal appears to conflate "legal minimum wage" under Section 1194 with the actual federal or California state minimum wage amount, which is incorrect, confusing, and bound to confuse other courts and practitioners, and most importantly renders meal and rest period claims a potential nightmare for any employee to pursue. Op. at 19-21.

The Court of Appeal also hurries past the *Murphy* decision distinguishing it on its facts and in some places disagrees with *Murphy* outright. Op. at 20-21. *Murphy*, however, is applicable and highly instructive here. Indeed, the "premium pay" discussed in *Murphy* is the "legal minimum wage" at issue in this action and analogous to the "premium pay" provided by overtime compensation laws. 40 Cal. 4th at 1108-14, 1120 (2007) ("Under the amended version of Section 226.7 an employee is entitled to the additional hour of pay immediately upon being forced to miss a rest or meal period. In that way, a payment owed pursuant to Section 226.7 is akin to an employee's immediate entitlement to payment of wages or for

overtime.") The Court of Appeal, however, fundamentally misunderstands, and more importantly, "disagrees" with *Murphy*, and this Court should grant review to correct the "precedent" they seek to make. *See* RJN, Ex. C.

C. THE MURPHY DECISION CLEARLY ESTABLISHES THAT THE SECTION 226.7 WAGE IS A "LEGAL MINIMUM WAGE" FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION 1194.

The Court of Appeal has found that Section 226.7 remedies are *not* a statutorily mandated minimum wage, despite this Court's opposite conclusion in *Murphy*. Again, comparing it to overtime laws covered by Section 1194, the Court said:

As has been recognized, in providing for overtime pay, the Legislature simultaneously created a premium pay to compensate employees for working in excess of eight hours while also creating a device 'for enforcing limitation on the maximum number of hours of work..., to wit, it is a maximum hour enforcement device...."

Murphy, 40 Cal. 4th at 1109.

That the duty to pay the Section 226.7 wage is mandated by statute cannot be contested seriously after *Murphy*. *Id.* at 1108-14. As explained by this Court, an employee who is forced to work during statutorily-mandated [meal or] rest periods is entitled to the Section 226.7 wage – the additional one hour of pay – for the time period he or she worked. *Id.* at 1108. This entitlement is immediate and similar to the entitlement to payment for wages and for overtime compensation. *Id.* The multiple comparisons of Section 226.7 to overtime compensation in *Murphy* further confirm that the duty to pay

the Section 226.7 wage is conferred by statute. Id. at 1110, 1113-14 (both are considered "premium pay"); Id. at 1112-1113 (damages in both overtime and meal and rest period claims are obscure and difficult to prove). If overtime claims are governed by Section 1194 for fees, so must Section 226.7 be governed by Section 1194.

Moreover, the plain language of Section 226.7(b) explicitly mandates when the employer pays. See § 226.7(b) ("If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal period or rest period in accordance with an applicable order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, the employer shall pay the employee one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each work day that the meal or rest period is not provided.") (emphasis added).

In addition, other courts have long held that statutory minimum rest periods are non-waivable, minimum labor standards. *Zavala v. Scott Bros. Dairy, Inc.*, 143 Cal. App. 4th 585, 596 (2006); *Franco v. Athens Disposal Co., Inc.*, 171 Cal. App. 4th 1277, 1294-1295 (2009) (meal and rest period laws cannot be waived); *Burnside v. Kiewit Pac. Corp.*, 491 F.3d 1053, 1066, n.14 (9th Cir. 2007) ("the substantive provisions . . . mandating meal periods . . . [cannot] in any way be contravened or set aside by a private agreement, whether written, oral, or implied") (citation omitted). An employee's entitlement to wage compensation for missed rest periods is not a matter of private contract between employer and employee. Therefore, the Section 226.7 wage is a *mandatory wage* imposed by statute.

Murphy also confirms the important public policy behind meal and rest period requirements. Protecting the millions of workers, particularly low-wage workers, from the potential health hazards and injuries resulting from missed breaks, lies at the policy core of Section 226.7. See Murphy, 40 Cal. 4th at 1113 ("Employees denied their rest and meal periods face greater risk of work-related accidents and increased stress, especially low-wage workers who often perform manual labor."); Naranjo v. Spectrum Security Services, Inc., 172 Cal. App. 4th 654, 666-667 (2009); Franco v. Athens Disposal Co., Inc., 171 Cal. App. 4th 1277, 1295 (2009) ("[M]eal period provisions address some of 'the most basic demands of an employee's health and welfare."").

Murphy confirms that the Section 226.7 wage is indeed statutorily mandated, and the entitlement to this wage is based on important public policy. Therefore, Section 1194 should apply, and the Court should take review to reverse the conclusion of the Court of Appeal to the contrary.

D. THE OPINION ALSO CONFLICTS WITH THE HOLDING IN *MURPHY* THAT 226.7 IS WAGE AND NOT A PENALTY.

In *Murphy*, this Court held the additional hour's wage compensation in Section 226.7 is not a penalty, but a "premium wage intended to compensate employees" for potential health hazards and other injuries arising from the denial of rest and meal breaks. 40 Cal. 4th at 1102–1111, 1115. In addition to compensating employees,

Section 226.7 "also has a corollary purpose of shaping employer conduct." *Id.* at 1111. As the Court in *Murphy* provided:

This meal and rest pay provision applies to an employer who says, 'You do not get lunch today, you do not get your rest break, you must work now.' That is-that is the intent.... And, of course, the courts have long construed overtime as a penalty, in effect, on employers for working people more than full-you know, that is how it's been construed, as more than the-the daily normal workday. It is viewed as a penalty and a disincentive in order to encourage employers not to. So, it is in the same authority that we provide overtime pay that we provide this extra hour of pay." The IWC intended that, like overtime pay provisions, payment for missed meal and rest periods be enacted as a premium wage to compensate employees, while also acting as an incentive for employers to comply with labor standards.

Id. at 1110.

Both of these objectives are frustrated – if not undermined – if the Court of Appeal's decision is not reviewed and reversed as employees who seek redress for their Section 226.7 violations presently face the risk of adverse fee awards, a risk which severely discourages private enforcement and reporting. *See Earley*, 79 Cal. App. 4th at 1430-1431 (refusing to allow employers to invoke Section 218.5 in overtime cases due to its "chilling effect on workers who have had their statutory rights violated"). The Opinion and *Murphy* simply cannot be reconciled.

E. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY AWARDING FEES UNDER SECTION 218.5 BECAUSE SUCH FEES

WERE NOT REQUESTED BY EITHER PARTY AT THE "INITIATION OF THE LAWSUIT" AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 218.5.

To seek fees under Section 218.5, a party must specifically request them in the Complaint or Answer:

§ 218.5. Attorney's fees and costs

In any action brought for the nonpayment of wages, fringe benefits, or health and welfare or pension fund contributions, the court shall award reasonable attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing party if any party to the action requests attorney's fees and costs upon the initiation of the action. This section shall not apply to an action brought by the Labor Commissioner. This section shall not apply to a surety issuing a bond pursuant to Chapter 9 (commencing with Section 7000) of Division 3 of the Business and Professions Code or to an action to enforce a mechanics lien brought under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 3109) of Title 15 of Part 4 of Division 3 of the Civil Code. This section does not apply to any action for which attorney's fees are recoverable under Section 1194.

§ 218.5 (emphasis added).

Petitioners specifically excluded Section 218.5 from their Complaints, and Respondent did not specifically include Section 218.5 in their Answers. Nor has Respondent disputed that neither party requested Section 218.5 fees upon the initiation of the action. By awarding fees without an explicit request from any party at the start of the action, the Court of Appeal impermissibly disregarded the plain language of Section 218.5. See Kimmel v. Goland, 51 Cal. 3d 202, 208 (1990) (courts must apply plain language of statute).

Further, Section 218.5 specifically says such fees cannot even be requested if Section 1194 applies – which was Plaintiffs position at the "inception of the lawsuit."

Review is necessary because if employees can be penalized for seeking their Section 226.7 remedies even where fees are not requested under Section 218.5, it would have a further chilling effect on employees seeking to redress employer wrongs under the Labor Code. Employee must have notice of their total potential exposure at the initiation of the civil action. Facing an attorneys' fees award is a critical part of this assessment. Petitioners were deprived of this notice and information. Additionally, Petitioners here have been deprived of their status as "masters" of their Complaints. *See Moreau v. San Diego Transit Corp.*, 210 Cal. App. 3d 614, 650 (1989) (stating that "a plaintiff is the "master" of his complaint).

F. NEITHER THE TRIAL COURT NOR THE COURT OF APPEAL EVER EXPLAINED WHY THE EMPLOYER WAS CONSIDERED THE PREVAILING PARTY IN THIS CASE.

The Court of Appeal in its decision has stated that Immoos successfully defended against allegations of labor law violations, implicitly finding it was the prevailing party entitled to fees under Section 218.5. Op. at 1. That is inaccurate. Rather, Petitioners voluntarily dismissed the claims with prejudice after receiving all wages sought through settlements with 2810 Defendants. Therefore, Respondent was not the prevailing party. Petitioners sought their wages and obtained them. While it was not the employer who paid them, in a sense, both were successful on their action.

It creates bad public policy in discouraging settlements if a plaintiff cannot dismiss a complaint after settling for what is owed by co-defendants, just to avoid being considered the non-prevailing party. While the 2810 Defendants could have cross-complained against Respondent, they did not. Yet the Petitioners could not have obtained anything further from Respondent after their settlement with 2810 Defendants. Instead, Petitioners were punished for settling their case. This makes no sense.

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