IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

ANTHONY KIRBY et al.

SEP 16 2010

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

vs.

Deputy

IMMOOS FIRE PROTECTION, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent,

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal
Third Appellate District Case Number C062306

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert L. Rediger, Esq. (CA State Bar No. 109392)
Laura C. McHugh, Esq. (CA State Bar No. 180930)
Jimmie E. Johnson, Esq. (CA State Bar No. 223344)
Rediger, McHugh & Owensby, LLP
555 Capitol Mall, Suite 1240
Sacramento, California 95814
Telephone: (916) 442-0033
Facsimile: (916) 498-1246

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PETITIONERS HAVE FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DECISION IS AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW THE LEGAL COMMUNITY NEEDS ANSWERED

California Rule of Court 8.500, subdivision (b)(1) provides that Supreme Court review is only appropriate when (1) necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law; (2) the Court of Appeal lacked jurisdiction; (3) the Court of Appeal decision lacked the concurrence of sufficient qualified justices; or (4) for the purpose of transferring the matter to the Court of Appeal for such proceedings as the

Supreme Court may order. In their petition, Petitioners only cite the "important question of law" category as their proposed basis for review. (Petition for Review, p. 7.)

In the first question presented, the Petitioners claim that their new theory of every statutorily-mandated wage being a type of "minimum" wage" is an important legal question requiring Supreme Court review. They are wrong. Labor Code section 218.5 provides that any party which prevails in a cause of action concerning "wages" is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees. The 2000 Amendment added the following language to the end of Section 218.5: "This section does not apply to any action for which attorney's fees are recoverable under [Labor Code] Section 1194." (Stats. 2000, ch. 876, § 4.) In turn, Labor Code section 1194 (hereinafter "Section 1194") provides attorneys' fees awards exclusively to plaintiffs in claims concerning "the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation." (Lab. Code, § 1194.) Accordingly, after the 2000 Amendment, a prevailing defendant is entitled to attorneys' fees in wage actions unless those actions concern minimum wage or overtime compensation claims.

Ten years after the State Legislature enacted the 2000 Amendment, Petitioners now present a new legal theory that every statutorily-mandated wage is a type of "minimum wage," and therefore the exception is invoked against prevailing defendants in every wage case. However, the flaw in their theory is that while "overtime compensation" is a statutorily-mandated

wage, the State Legislature did not consider "overtime compensation" to be "a minimum wage" when it specifically exempted both "minimum wages" and "overtime compensation" claims from Section 218.5. (Lab. Code, § 218.5 [exempting actions subject to Section 1194 which in turn defines such actions as those concerning both "minimum wages" and "overtime compensation"].) Thus, the State Legislature did not intend every statutorily-mandated wage claim to be considered a "minimum wage" claim under Section 218.5, but rather only those claims regarding the minimum wage rate.

Both the trial court and the Third District Court of Appeal correctly understood the error in Petitioners' argument and rejected it. No other appellate court has had the opportunity to consider this new legal question as of yet; and therefore, there is no support for Petitioner's theory to date. Having garnered no legal support for their theory, nor having provided the appellate courts adequate time to consider the new legal question as a whole, the first question presented does not proffer an "important question of law" the Supreme Court should review. (Cal. R. Court, § 8.500, subd. (b)(1).)

///

///

///

///

POINT II

THE PETITIONERS FAILED TO ARGUE IN THE COURT OF APPEAL THAT THE RESPONDENT DID NOT REQUEST AN AWARD OF ATTORNEYS' FEES AT THE OUTSET OF THIS LITIGATION, AND IN ANY EVENT, THE RESPONDENT DID MAKE SUCH A REQUEST

"As a policy matter, on petition for review, the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal." (Cal. R. Court, § 8.500, subd. (c).) The Petitioners did not timely raise at the Court of Appeal any issue regarding an alleged failure by the Respondent to request its attorneys' fees. (See generally, Respondent's Request For Judicial Notice, Exhibit B [Petitioners' opening appellate brief].) Accordingly, Supreme Court review of this question of law is unwarranted. (Cal. R. Court, § 8.500, subd. (c).)

In addition, the Petitioners do not divulge in their Petition for Review that the Respondent did in fact request an award of attorneys' fees in its Answer. The prayer of the Answer Respondent filed and served stated: "WHEREFORE, the Defendant prays for judgment as follows ... The Defendant be awarded their [sic] reasonable fees and costs...." (Respondent's Request For Judicial Notice, Exhibit A [Respondent's Answer to underlying complaint].) The Petitioners disingenuous argument that the Respondent did not request an award of attorneys' fees at the outset of this litigation is without merit. In short, Petitioners' argument lacks any

factual basis, which weighs against any "importance" for Supreme Court review. (Cal. R. Court, § 8.500, subd. (b)(1).)

POINT III

THE PETITIONERS FAILED TO ARGUE IN THE COURT OF APPEAL THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT THE PREVAILING PARTY, AND THE ARGUMENT IS TOO FACTINTESIVE TO PROVIDE HELPFUL PRECEDENT IN THE FUTURE

The Petitioners did not timely raise any issue at the Court of Appeal regarding which party "prevailed" in the matter. (Respondent's Request For Judicial Notice, Exhibit B [Petitioners' opening appellate brief].) Accordingly, Supreme Court review of this question of law is unwarranted. (Cal. R. Court, § 8.500, subd. (c).) In addition, the question posed by the Petitioners is fact-sensitive and not likely to provide helpful precedent for future cases.

Based on the following specific set of facts presented in this case, the trial court found that Respondent was the prevailing party (3 JA 418):

On or about January 3, 2007, Petitioners and Robert Saphore, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated, filed a Complaint alleging unfair business practices, failure to pay wages and overtime, failure to provide meal periods, failure to provide rest breaks, failure to provide itemized wage statements, and related violations of the Business and Professions Code, the Labor Code, and California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order No. 16-2001. (1 JA 1-16.) The Complaint

named Respondent and 750 unidentified "Doe" Vendor Defendants as defendants in the action. On or about August 29, 2007, a first amended Complaint was filed in the matter, naming only Petitioners as plaintiff parties. (1 JA 17-34.)

On or about August 11, 2008, Petitioners again amended the Complaint to identify four of the Vendor Defendants. (1 JA 35–42.) Between October 1, 2009 and February 27, 2009, Petitioners dismissed the identified Vendor Defendants from the case. (1 JA 43-63.) In the instant petition, Petitioners allege that they "obtained the wages they were owed by settlement with the 2810 Defendants." (Petition for Review, p. 19.) However, there is no evidence in the record to support said allegation, nor do Petitioners cite to any. (Petition for Review, p. 19.) Accordingly, this allegation should be entirely ignored.

On or about November 21, 2008, Petitioners moved for class certification of their Complaint against Respondent and the remaining unidentified Vendor Defendants. (1 JA 51-53.) On or about January 13, 2009, the trial court denied the class certification motion. (RA 1-9.)

On or about February 27, 2009, the Plaintiffs filed and served a voluntary request for dismissal of the entire action with prejudice; and on or about that same day, the clerk of the court entered said dismissal as requested. (1 JA 62-63.)

Petitioners ask the Supreme Court to review the foregoing record *de novo* and re-determine whether the Respondent was the prevailing party in this case. Such a highly, fact-sensitive question, unlikely to bear any precedential value for future cases, does not satisfy the "importance" prong of California Rule of Court 8.500, and renders Supreme Court review unwarranted. (Cal. R. Court, § 8.500, subd. (b)(1).)

POINT IV

PETITIONERS' ARGUMENT THAT THE TERM "ACTION" IN LABOR CODE SECTION 218.5 REFERS TO AN ENTIRE "CASE" RATHER THAN A SINGLE CAUSE OF ACTION IS BASELESS AND DOES NOT MERIT REVIEW

Section 218.5 reads, in pertinent part:

In any *action* brought for the nonpayment of wages, fringe benefits, or health and welfare or pension fund contributions, the court shall award reasonable attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing party if any party to the action requests attorney's fees and costs upon the initiation of the action.

This section does not apply to any *action* for which attorney's fees are recoverable under Section 1194.

(Lab. Code, § 218.5 [emphasis added].)

Accordingly, the text of Section 218.5 provides that the prevailing party in any wage "action" is entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees except in wage "actions" subject to Section 1194 - i.e., actions concerning "minimum wage" and "overtime compensation" claims. In their effort to absolve themselves of the attorneys' fee award, the Petitioners assert that

the term "action" in Section 218.5 refers to the entire case, not the single cause of action where the wage claim is asserted. (Petition for Review, pp. 20-22.) In other words, the Petitioners argue that if one single cause of action within a complaint asserts a "minimum wage" or "overtime compensation" claim subject to Section 1194, then a prevailing defendant cannot seek attorneys' fees for prevailing on any other causes of action asserted within the complaint because the 2000 Amendment specifically exempted the use of Section 218.5 in "any action for which fees are recoverable under Section 1194." (Petition for Review, pp. 20-22.)

First, this Court has already determined that the term "action" does not refer to an entire lawsuit, but rather the obligation from which a cause of action arises. "Although an 'action' is sometimes used to denote the suit in which the action is enforced, 'An action is nothing else than the right or power of prosecuting in a judicial proceeding what is owed to one which is but to say, an obligation. . . ." (*Palmer v. Agee* (1978) 87 Cal.App.3d 377, 387 [quoting *Frost v. Witter* (1901) 132 Cal. 421, 426].)

Second, the Petitioners' proffered interpretation could actually become a sword against employees who file complaints containing causes of action for minimum wages and/or overtime compensation in combination with causes of action for health and welfare or pension fund contributions. Section 218.5 applies to a wide-ranging set of claims not covered by Section 1194, including "fringe benefits, or health and welfare

or pension fund contributions." (Compare, Lab. Code, §§ 218.5, 1194.) Pursuant to Petitioners' argument, if a plaintiff files a complaint containing causes of action for overtime compensation, fringe benefits, and pension fund contributions, that plaintiff could not seek attorneys' fees for its efforts in the fringe benefits and pension fund claims (which are only provided in Section 218.5) because the overtime compensation claim is subject to Section 1194. Since the overtime compensation claim is subject to Section 1194, a plaintiff would be foreclosed from seeking attorneys' fees pursuant to Section 218.5 for any other claim within the entire case.

Similarly, following the Petitioners' argument that the term "action" means the entire case, a prevailing defendant could seek attorneys' fees under Section 218.5 for all of the claims asserted within a complaint so long as one cause of action concerned wages other than the "minimum wage" and "overtime compensation."

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly understood the error in Petitioners' argument and rejected it. Whereas this question lacks any legal or logical basis, it fails to satisfy the "important question of law" requirement, and Supreme Court review is unwarranted. (Cal. R. Court, § 8.500, subd. (b)(1).)

///

///

///

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the Court should deny the Petitioners' petition for review and their request to depublish the decision of the Third Appellate District Court of Appeal.